



People, place, and planet

Place-sensitive participatory policy development for a just transition to net zero.

Tania Carregha and Samanthi Theminimulle
January 2024



We believe that involving communities leads to better decision-making.

About the Institute for Community Studies

The Institute for Community Studies is a research institute with people at its heart. Powered by the not-for-profit organisation, The Young Foundation, we work to influence change, bridging the gap between communities, evidence, and policymaking.

About the British Academy's Policy Insights Case Studies

This work has been generously funded by the British Academy as part of a portfolio of policy-focused research projects under the theme of sustainability for people and planet. It will inform 'Where We Live Next', the British Academy's programme of policy work exploring environmental sustainability through the lens of place and place-sensitive policy.







Contents

Executive summary	4
Introduction	5
Why participatory policy development (PPD)	6
Participatory approaches in the transition to net zero	7
A person-centred, place-sensitive approach	9
Selection of places and stakeholders	12
Findings	14
Case study 1: Luton	14
Case study 2: Hartlepool	15
Case study 3: Newcastle	16
Cross-cutting findings	18
Policy recommendations	24
Bibliography	26
Appendix 1	30





Executive summary

The transition to net zero carbon emissions presents a major social and technical challenge, which will change most aspects of how we live. There is broad consensus that the fairest path to achieving 'net zero' is one that build public support by providing opportunities for participation (Demski, 2021; Sunak, 2023; OECD, 2023). However, there are several systemic challenges preventing widespread public participation in the transition, such as a lack of cohesive guidance and frameworks, limited resources and capacity, and gaps in evaluation that make it difficult to determine what is (and isn't) working.

Participatory policy development (PPD) is a potential route to engaging individuals and communities in decisions about the transition to net zero, with the potential to build understanding and support. This work recommends a methodology for person-centred, place-sensitive participatory policymaking, tested in three case study locations across England - Luton, Hartlepool, and Newcastle - and refined iteratively. This pilot unearthed place-specific and cross-cutting findings, presented in this report alongside short case studies highlighting outcomes of the process in each place.

The following cross-cutting findings were identified:

- 1. Capacity and progress on net zero affect local authorities' abilities to engage in participatory policymaking.
- 2. It can be challenging to convince stakeholders of their role in policy processes.
- 3. There are different understandings of what fairness and justice in the transition means across stakeholder groups.
- 4. While there are common opportunities and challenges in different places, the need for placesensitive working remains.
- 5. There is an opportunity to use net zero policies to address other local challenges.

Based on the findings, the report sets forth the following policy recommendations:

- 1. Use a person-centred, place-sensitive approach to reducing carbon emissions towards net zero.
- 2. Establish a common language and shared understanding around the 'just transition'.
- 3. Prioritise carbon reduction policies that have a positive impact on other local challenges.
- Target common leverage points, such as financial deprivation and low trust, as starting points for net zero policies across levels of governance.
- 4. Consider the role of 'soft' infrastructure and intangible assets, such as resident groups and community cohesion, in supporting the delivery of a just transition.





Introduction

The UK has set a legally binding target to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2050. There is broad acknowledgement that achieving net zero is a social as well as a technical challenge, which will require changes to most aspects of how we live (Chilvers, et al., 2017). A crucial part of achieving net zero is to build public support for and participation in these coming changes (Demski, 2021). Prime Minister Rishi Sunak has said the "fairest credible path" to net zero is "a way that brings people with us" (2023). The OECD echoes the importance of participation, stating that transition to net zero can only succeed with 'strong public support and widespread opportunities for people and firms' (2023).

However, public engagement is not part of the country's net zero strategy, and no plans have been published to enact and evaluate it (Sasse, et al. 2021). Additionally, most decarbonisation efforts to date have been in areas that require little public engagement (e.g., the power sector), and plans for delivering and evaluating community participation in the transition remain limited (Demski, 2021). Opportunities to engage the public remain, both in terms of achieving collective action and in involving citizens in decision-making about how to reach net zero, including policymaking (Demski, 2021).

The local or 'place' level is particularly important in achieving net zero, as local authorities hold power and responsibility over areas such as transport, social housing, and waste (Rankl, et al., 2023). These authorities therefore have a key role to play, including through the engagement of local communities (Rankl, et al., 2023), to build collective action and make collaborative decisions on local policy for net zero.

In this work, we interrogate and test what a place-based collaborative approach to climate policy might look like, and how it might be enacted in practice. This work is grounded in a theoretical approach, summarised as 'person-centred place-sensitive', which the Institute for Community Studies has developed over the past two years, with funding from the Nuffield Foundation. The current programme of work has allowed us to take move beyond the theoretical approach, towards an exploration of how to put the principles in practice in places.





Why participatory policy development (PPD)

Those that are thought to be most vulnerable in society are often denied participation in research and policy development (Aldridge, 2016). This is mirrored by current policy debates and developments – and even community initiatives – on the transition to net zero, which tend to struggle to be inclusive and representative (Anantharaman et al., 2019; Murphy et al., 2021; Taylor Aiken et al., 2017; Webb et al., 2022). However, the inclusion of community and stakeholder voices in policymaking processes has the potential to create a range of benefits both for those who participate and for the overall outcome (CIVICUS and Rietbergen-McCracken, 2020).

PPD practices seek to include the voices of communities and people affected by a policy issue in crafting solutions, by positioning them as active participants in the design process (Blomkamp, 2018). Considered a form of 'deeper' participation, this enables participants to take command of the process and outcomes (Chambers, 1996).

PPD is sometimes referred to as policy 'co-design', in reference to participation in the design of a new public policy. Although co-design practices come from private sector innovation literature, they are increasingly being applied to public services (Blomkamp, 2018). In the private sector, co-design processes seek to include 'end-users' of a product or service. In this same logic, policy co-design includes those who will be affected or most affected by a policy issue in decision-making. Policy co-design therefore incorporates the needs of those affected by an issue and unearths their ideas for solutions, based on their lived experience (Booth, 2019).

Participatory policy practices can help amplify the voices of communities often marginalised in existing processes, and bring a wider recognition of who holds 'expertise' when solving problems (Booth, 2019, De Smedt and Borch, 2021). Arnstein, a foundational thinker on citizen participation, believed having the chance to think of and develop solutions is a way of empowering citizens (1969).

When done well, participatory policy practices offer the potential to identify problems and solutions that speak to the needs and interests of various actors and can lead to improved policy design and enhanced decision-making processes (Rodriguez and Komendantova, 2022). Additionally, participatory processes are a way of acknowledging and incorporating local knowledge, skills, and resources in solutions (Mubita, et al., 2017).

PPD has several limitations and potential risks, which require careful consideration. One of the key elements of a successful process is including a diverse set of voices, but this adds social complexity and may lead to difficulties in mutual understanding and decision-making. Participatory processes can be susceptible to domination by some voices in the room, which may mirror local relationships of power (Mubita, et al., 2017). Another key risk is that participatory processes may not lead to change due to rigid and centralised decision-making and resource allocation mechanisms (Mubita, et al., 2017). The methodology developed through this work seeks to mitigate the potential impact of these risks, for instance through facilitation that was sensitive to local conditions and power dynamics. Exercises were designed to foster equitable participation and were accompanied by accessible baseline information to manage differences in knowledge levels. Engaging local authorities brought expert knowledge on potential barriers to the implementation of solutions, and how to overcome them. Concurrently, we attempted to manage expectations of the outcomes of the workshops to avoid disappointment.





Participatory approaches in the transition to net zero

PPD is increasingly being used to engage local people in the development of projects and programmes, for instance in international development (Mubita, et al., 2017). In the context of the transition to net zero, participatory policy practices offer a route to a more inclusive debate of what policy should look like across places.

Public engagement with net zero is conceptualised as a twofold challenge; including citizens in decision-making on how to reach net zero (including policymaking) and engaging the public in action to reduce carbon emissions (Demski, 2021). These two challenges are interlinked, as increasing engagement in decision-making may strengthen changes to behaviour, for instance by promoting understanding of why changes are happening and building policy acceptance (Demski, 2021).

Public concern for climate change is at an all-time high, with individuals becoming increasingly worried due to the increased visibility of climate impacts (Demski, 2021). However, this concern does not necessarily translate to an understanding of or support for the changes required to meet net zero carbon emissions (Demski, 2021). A nationally representative survey by the Institute for Community Studies and Ipsos found widespread awareness of climate change and willingness to act, with only 3% of people uninterested in lowering their carbon footprint (2021). However, only 12% of respondents felt fully aware of how the transition to net zero would affect them (Institute for Community Studies and Ipsos, 2021). This points to an opportunity to build both public understanding and acceptance of the transition to net zero, for which participatory policy practices can act as an active route. There is evidence that public engagement, especially in decision-making, can promote understanding of why changes are happening and build consent for societal changes (Demski, 2021). The Climate Change Committee (CCC) agrees that 'if people understand what is needed and why, if they have options and can be involved in decision-making processes, they will support the transition to Net Zero' (2020, p.13).

There is evidence of an increasing appetite for public participation in policies around the transition to net zero. There is increasing demand from citizens themselves to be more involved in decisions, demonstrated by high participation in climate assemblies (Demski, 2021). The Institute for Community Studies and Ipsos identified broad support for wider participation in decisions to reach net zero, with 44% of survey respondents calling for the involvement of local communities (Institute for Community Studies and Ipsos, 2021). Similarly, decision-making and knowledge generating bodies are calling for increased and deeper public participation in decisions around the transition to net zero. The CCC, for instance, sees a vital role for people in delivering net zero, and calls for involvement of people in developing proposed solutions (2020). The UK's Energy Research Centre also calls for deeper public engagement in decisions about the direction and purposes of energy transitions (Chilvers et al., 2017), viewing this a route to tackle questions of equity, justice and control associated to the transition, as well as a route to overcoming public resistance, gaining social acceptance of policies, and enabling bottom-up initiatives (Chilvers et al., 2017). The OECD echoes these calls for public participation in complex policy areas including climate change, as a way of finding common ground and supporting action (2020).





The use of participatory policy practices in the transition to net zero is by no means new (Wesselink, et al., 2011). We have seen parliament-commissioned climate assemblies, local authority-led citizens' juries, and third-sector or community-led research and engagement. However, there is little consistency in the delivery of these strategies, and limited recognition of the impact of these mechanisms on policy decisions. Public engagement is not part of the governments' net zero strategy, nor is there a clear plan, or guidance for how to deliver it. This has led to a loss of momentum in public participation in environmental governance, partly due to disappointments about the achievements of these processes (Wesselink, et al., 2011). This echoes a historical struggle to embed public engagement in policymaking, limiting the consistency and effectiveness of approaches (Norris and Ilott, 2015).

Examples of participatory practices related to the transition to net zero can be found across a range of geographies, from national policymaking to local and hyperlocal decision-making. At a national level, the UK has set up a Climate Assembly with 108 members who represent the general population. They met over the course of six weekends (three in person and three online) and were supported by expert leads, an advisory and academic panel, and notable leaders across business, faith, and civil society. Feedback from the process shows that taking part in the assembly positively impacted individuals' 'appetite and confidence' to engage in decision-making (Climate Assembly UK, 2020). However, it is unclear if and how the recommendations of the assembly have been taken forward, and whether similar assemblies will continue to inform the government as the transition to net zero unfolds.

At a local level, there is growing interest in engaging communities in decisions related to climate change and climate action. The Local Government Association (LGA) has published resources to support climate action in local government, including communication with and engagement of local communities. The LGA has hosted webinars and published blogs focusing on community engagement, sharing tips, and showcasing best practice across the sector. However, this is not joined up with expectations in national government, whose plan for local government in net zero notably omits community engagement (Rankl, et al., 2023). The House of Commons acknowledges a need for 'clearer expectations' for local places, and clarification of how action at a community, local, regional, and national level fits together (Rankl, et al., 2023). This may be part of the reason why resources and appetite for local public engagement in policymaking are not translating into consistent action.

There are numerous positive examples of councils engaging residents. This report does not seek to invalidate the good practice that is already happening, but rather to build on it by introducing new tools and guidance, with the hope of supporting places that may be struggling to engage residents. Lambeth Council, for instance, has set up a citizen's assembly for residents of the borough, who met on six occasions and delivered 13 recommendations (Traverse, 2021). The council recognises the role of the community and the need to ensure transition is equitable and fair and has committed resources to establish channels for engagement (Lambeth Council, 2021). Another notable example is Stroud District Council, the first council in Europe to be carbon neutral, who are carrying out a variety of engagement activities with their local community on the transition to net zero. Stroud District Council has set up a Community Engagement Board to build community inclusion in climate action and design how the council can support it (Stroud District Council, 2023).

These are two of many positive examples that demonstrate strides towards participatory practices in local government. However, there is still a way to go in terms of embedding these practices in governance structures, and ensuring they are reaching all places (Sasse, et al., 2021). Importantly,





there is little publicly available evidence of what is working when it comes to participatory processes around the transition to net zero, or evaluation of outcomes. This limits the potential of local authorities to learn from one another, and support those that may be struggling with public engagement.

A person-centred, place-sensitive approach

This report draws on the conceptual approach developed by the Institute for Community Studies and researchers from the University of York, University of Leeds, and Trinity College Dublin. The work explored the potential unequal impacts of the transition to net zero on different individuals, households, and communities, identifying the importance of centring individuals and places in net zero policies. The approach, illustrated below, is summarised as a person-centred, place-sensitive approach to a just transition (see Figure 1). This report draws on this approach by putting individuals and places, their needs, and priorities, at the heart of the policymaking process. The proposed methodology forefronts the unique barriers and opportunities for participation that individuals in different places face, responding to them through policy asks. Furthermore, the methodology recognises the interconnectedness of different areas of life, challenging policy approaches that focus on a single area (such as transport or housing).



Figure 1: A person-centred, place-sensitive approach to net zero





The person-centred approach is gaining traction as a necessary tool to reach net zero (Verfeuth, et al., 2023), emphasising the importance of centring people's needs and circumstances in policymaking, and involving people in the transition (Verfeuth, et al., 2023). However, the 'how' of involvement is still a developing picture, and ranges from supporting behavioural change to involving individuals in decision-making on net zero (Verfeuth, et al., 2023). We suggest that adding place-sensitivity to this approach not only mirrors how policymaking is happening in the transition (largely at a local level) but adds necessary nuance to policy about the conditions that communities face in their places. Additionally, the place-sensitive approach calls for the involvement of local communities in decision-making and action, recognising it as a driver of impact. Community-led approaches are emerging effective in reducing emissions across a range of areas, from community energy (see: Manchester Carbon Co-Op, Repowering London) to grassroots retrofit (see: Putnam and Brown, 2021).

The person-centred, place-sensitive approach was brought into this work as the framework on which to hinge policy asks. The PPD process involved stakeholders in their places and drew on their lived experience as individuals and part of the local community. Exercises focused on local assets and opportunities, and challenges that are specific to the places, as well as their symptoms and causes. Participants were also invited to think of the impacts of net zero at individual and household levels and consider how a change in one area might affect other areas of life.

Methodology

To bring together PPD and the person-centred, place-sensitive approach, we designed a workshop comprised of three stages. The workshop methodology was tested in three case study locations – Newcastle, Hartlepool, and Luton. The project undertook an iterative approach, testing and refining the workshop methodology using learning from each location. In additional to the contextual differences across each place, each setting represented different level of progress towards carbon emissions reduction, as well as different configurations of participants. The workshops were delivered sequentially, with enough time to reflect on the delivery in the previous location(s) and refine the methodology. The focus of refinement was on improving the experience of participants and adapting the methodology to each of the contexts.

The table below presents an overview of the workshop methodology broken down into three component parts. A summary of the activities that sit under each of the objectives can be found in Appendix 1.

Stage	Duration	Aim	Activities
Building a common	hours	common, baseline understanding of net zero, a	 Introducing definitions
understanding:		person-centred, place-sensitive transition, and a	(net zero, just transition,
introduction to key		'just transition' in the context of the local	person-centred approach) Discussing local plans for
concepts around the		community and place. This should be done	net zero Pen portraits Principles for the local
transition to net zero		using accessible language, and accompanied	transition to net zero





		and visuals representing local plans for net zero.	
Understanding household and place conditions What are the opportunities and challenges for this place in the transition?	Two hours	household, community, and place conditions, to identify those that might translate to tangible opportunities and challenges in the transition to net zero. The identification, prioritisation and	 Identifying and prioritising challenges relevant to the transition to net zero Developing a deep, shared understanding of challenges
Policy development What needs to happen for a just transition in this place?	Two hours	The objective of this stage is to identify personcentred policy asks that are community and place specific. Facilitators support participants to iteratively develop asks that respond to the challenges that have been identified and explored collectively. The group then tests the feasibility of the proposed asks and identifies opportunities and assets that might enable the policy asks to be taken forward. To finish, participants share their desired next steps, including any commitments to action they are willing to make.	prioritising policy asks

Table 1: A breakdown of the workshop structure, which is comprised of three parts, delivered over a two-day workshop.

The results of the workshop are contingent upon the participants in the room, who bring unique perspectives based on their personal and professional experiences of their place. Ideally, PPD for the transition to net zero calls for the involvement of a range of relevant stakeholders and might look different for different places. This work focused on three key stakeholder groups (listed below), which we worked with in different configurations due to difficulties in recruitment. While this had impacts on the process itself (discussed later), it did provide an opportunity for comparative analysis across places.

Stakeholders we hoped to engage for the process:

- Local authorities, particularly civil servants engaged in the transition to net zero and/or working with local communities.
- Representatives from local voluntary and community organisations, who can speak to the diverse needs of local communities.
- Local residents, who can speak directly to their experiences of a place, and what changes under the transition might mean to them.

These stakeholder groups were selected for their connection to their places and local communities. Additionally, they are groups with power and responsibility in the place and are well-placed to potentially take the emerging policy recommendations forward. Local commercial bodies were not included due to their potential conflict of interest in the policy development process.





We used multiple recruitment channels including social media advertising and advertising through existing networks such as community and voluntary sector networks, or council-led engagement networks. Recruitment materials were designed to promote what people could get out of participating, and to provide clear and accessible routes to register to take part. Residents and representatives from small community organisations were offered remuneration for their participation. Further information about taking part in the workshops was provided online, so people were fully informed.



Figure 3: Configuration of stakeholders attending the three place-sensitive workshops. Luton was attended by all stakeholder types, while Hartlepool was attended by local policymakers and community organisations, and Newcastle was attended by local residents and community organisations.

Selection of places and stakeholders

The Institute for Community Studies identified a shortlist of potential places to work with. We were looking for a diversity of places to engage across factors including local economic identity, different forms of local government, and different levels of engagement with the transition to net zero, both at a local authority and resident level. As local leads, and to try to establish political accountability within the process, local authorities in each place were approached in the first instance. We successfully engaged two borough councils - Luton Borough Council and Hartlepool Borough Council - and attempted to engage four other local authorities, who were unable to participate. Where local authorities couldn't participate, we took the alternative route of working just with residents and the community and voluntary sector, to explore what that might mean for policy outcomes.

We chose to engage local authorities, as opposed to national government, in recognition of the key role that they will play in transitioning their places towards net zero, and their potential to do this in a way that is sensitive to the conditions of local individuals and communities. The UK's Net Zero Strategy, Build Back Greener, sets out the role of devolved and local government as essential to reaching net zero targets, with key responsibilities including driving action directly and communicating with and inspiring action by local businesses, communities, and civil society (BEIS, 2021).





Councils hold powers and responsibility in a range of areas, including housing, planning, transport and, importantly, in convening local stakeholders and residents (WPI Economics, 2021). At the same time, they face significant challenges, including strengthening partnership with national government and impacting areas that are out of the council's direct control (WPI Economics, 2021). In contrast with national government, local government has the potential to produce policies that respond to the conditions, challenges, and opportunities of their places. Additionally, the UK government is committed to the devolution of power from central to local government across England, increasing the importance of local authorities in every aspect of shaping their places (Scott, 2023).

Across England, there are multiple levels of local governance, with different roles, responsibilities, and powers, including metropolitan boroughs, parishes, combined authorities and council or district councils, creating diversity across places (Scott, 2023). Additionally, there is great diversity in local authorities, in terms of progress towards net zero, with some councils yet to declare a climate emergency, and others (nearly two thirds of councils in England) setting a carbon neutrality target 20 years before the national target of 2050 (WPI Economics, 2021). Across the UK, around 75% of local authorities have declared a climate emergency. However, this is not predictive of further action (Latter, 2021; Howarth et al., 2021).

The Institute for Community Studies carried out desk-based research to establish baseline knowledge of each place. Where local authorities chose to participate in the process, they participated in a semi-structured interview, seeking their views on the assets, needs and challenges in their place – in general, and with particular relevance to the transition to net zero – as well as any progress to date on net zero strategies and activities. They were asked to provide any useful resources, such as published strategies or council documents.

Where we could engage local authorities in semi-structured interviews, these were used to provide a comprehensive snapshot of the starting point of the local community and place. They were also used to inform how net zero would be framed in the workshops, and any particular challenges or opportunities to consider. Finally, the interviews served as guidance for who needed to be involved in the workshops and helped to create 'buy-in' amongst potential participants from the local authority.





Findings

The following section presents short case studies for each of the locations where workshops were carried out. They include a brief background, notes on the process, the emerging policy asks for each location, and other outcomes.

Case study 1: Luton

Background: Luton Borough Council has pledged to be carbon neutral by 2040, setting forth an ambitious plan to decarbonise the town - including the local airport, which is the biggest local employer. In parallel, the local authority has led substantial work to understand the conditions of marginalised communities through its Fairness Taskforce.

Participants: Local residents (3), community organisations (4) and Luton Borough Council (4). **Process:**

- To balance power dynamics in the room, we had sought a ratio of 2:1:1 of local residents, community organisations and council representatives. However, this was not achieved due to unexpected drop-out of participants a reality in this type of work. Facilitators managed this dynamic by adapting their facilitation techniques, in particular to avoid discussions being framed through a council narrative.
- Generally, all participants were empathetic towards the need for decarbonisation and fairness outcomes in the transition to net zero. However, they struggled to relate to the person-centred, place-sensitive approach. While it was beneficial to have representatives from across the council, who were knowledgeable about how different areas of life might be affected, it was challenging to encourage them to move away from siloed thinking.
- Occasionally, tensions arose between council and community organisation representatives, but this was largely due to misunderstandings around roles, responsibilities, and funding. For example, when developing policy asks, there was frequent pushback from the council, given the lack of financial resources available to distribute to community organisations motivated to participate and enable changes.

Outcomes - emerging policy areas:

- Introduce a levy on private charter flights: the local airport was raised as a unique stakeholder in Luton, which already provides a large amount of funding to local community organisations. The airport currently raises funds through a levy paid by commercial passengers. However, the possibility of additional levy on private charter flights was suggested. This additional levy could be used to both disincentivise private charter flights and raise funds to support net zero initiatives. Participants pointed out the window of opportunity for the council to propose this condition ahead of the renewal of the airport's lease in 2030.
- Introduce a public participation programme, delivered from existing local assets and social infrastructure: participants drew on previous discussions about creating value from existing physical assets and social infrastructure, to create more pathways for participation. Where some participants sought a dedicated transition- or climate-focused hub or community centre, others pointed towards existing assets that could be reframed or developed to enable participation in households and communities in Luton. However, it was noted that these assets would require a programme of support to participate in the transition themselves (for example, through retrofitting buildings).





Introduce an education programme delivered by trusted community leaders: participants discussed extending the role of community leaders and strong community networks as educators on the transition to net zero. They saw the need for the council to support community organisations with information and resources, building on the existing trust model. There was common agreement that net zero should not feel too 'top-down', and that excessive dependence on the council would undermine existing community structures. Therefore, participants saw a community-led, council-supported programme as the best route towards educating the public on net zero.

Other outcomes

- Increased understanding of the transition to net zero: some participants joined with little
 or no understanding of net zero. This gradually built over the course of the workshops,
 with people asking for further resources and information about the transition by the end.
- **Building familiarity with local plans for transition:** residents and community organisations participating in the workshops were not all familiar with Luton's existing strategic work in particular, Luton 2040 and the Roadmap to Net Zero.
- Council commitment to next steps: Luton has several existing successful mechanisms
 for community engagement that they could evolve or build on to have more honest
 dialogues with residents and organisations, including the Fairness Taskforce. The council
 climate team committed to conducting more participatory engagement through the
 taskforce in the immediate future.

Case study 2: Hartlepool

Background: Hartlepool grapples with challenges related to deprivation and child deprivation, after the decline of local industry. But the town has a strong third sector, which supports marginalised residents. The council has not yet announced a climate emergency or set a carbon emissions reduction plan, though a plan for decarbonising council operations is in development. **Participants:** Hartlepool Borough Council (3), community roles at the council (3), local community and voluntary organisations (4)

Process:

- The local government representatives we spoke to were reluctant to engage residents for fear of creating expectations they may not be able to meet. A decision was made to invite only members of local community and voluntary organisations, who reside locally.
- Despite the council's reluctance, the general attitude towards council representatives was
 of understanding and support, with representatives from local organisations offering their
 own assets, resources, and knowledges to work in collaboration towards reducing
 emissions.
- Participants struggled to understand the concept of a 'just transition', and several participants were set on the idea that net zero can only make people worse off. This points to a need to deliver clear and accessible messages about the transition to net zero and how it may contribute to better outcomes.

Outcomes - emerging policy areas:

Launch an education programme supporting residents to grow their own food: in response to the challenge of widespread deprivation and lack of opportunities to gain skills, participants proposed a communications campaign supported by local community organisations to promote food autonomy. Residents would be encouraged to grow their own food as a way of reducing costs, reducing emissions, and reaping health and wellbeing benefits. Residents would be





provided with essential tools such as seeds, training courses and resources, and, where necessary, shared growing spaces.

Launch an engagement programme to capture the voices of local residents in the town's net zero strategy: in response to the challenge of political disengagement and low trust in government, participants proposed a programme of community engagement to understand the priorities and challenges of different communities within the town. Engagement would be carried out through a taskforce made up of council members and community groups, making use of existing communications channels. Residents would be given accessible information about the transition to net zero and changes happening locally and provided easy ways to contribute their opinion.

Other outcomes

- Building capacity to deliver collaborative work between the council and the voluntary sector: participants expressed their wish for the local net zero strategy to be developed and delivered collaboratively. They shared ideas to build a local net zero taskforce spanning the council, community, and voluntary sector. Additionally, participants from the voluntary sector who did not have a prior relationship with the council made use of the workshop space to identify opportunities for collaboration on other topics.
- Tackling existing challenges through net zero policies: participants highlighted ways to tackle existing challenges and inequalities through policies for the reduction of carbon emissions, leading to a higher quality of life. Participants shared examples of how their response to the rise in energy prices had improved their lives in some ways, for instance by spending more time outdoors and grow their own vegetables. Based on this experience, participants highlighted opportunities to improve health and life expectancy through outdoor leisure activities, strengthen social cohesion through shared initiatives for decarbonisation and lower the strain on spending through increasing self-reliability.

Case study 3: Newcastle

Background: Newcastle has set the target of reaching net zero emissions by 2030, led by an ambitious roadmap that spans the council, local businesses, public services, and households. The roadmap is underpinned by a Net Zero Taskforce, a Climate Change Committee, and a Citizen's Assembly. The city is in the midst of the North East Devolution Deal, which will create a new mayoral combined authority in May 2024.

Participants: Residents (11), local voluntary organisations (1).

Process:

- In the summer of 2022, the Institute for Community Studies engaged residents from three case study neighbourhoods in Newcastle in a series of participatory workshops, as part of a Nuffield Foundation-funded project on family and community vulnerabilities in the transition to net zero. Only individuals who took part in this prior research were invited to join the current workshop, which meant participants were starting from a higher baseline level of knowledge on the transition. This allowed for more in-depth discussions on justice issues in transition, and for more granular place-sensitive discussions.





 Despite repeated attempts to engage the council and other voluntary and community organisations, no response was received. This is likely a reflection of current capacity issues, perhaps associated to changes in local government due to the North East Devolution Deal.

Outcomes - emerging policy asks:

- Establish a community surgery for net zero: in response to the lack of trust and communication between local communities and the council, participants proposed a regular 'surgery' in a community setting, focusing on different aspects of the transition to net zero. The surgery would respond to themes proposed by local residents and would change location as relevant to the selected theme. The sessions would be led by an impartial chair, with representation from the council, and would include expert guidance, information sessions, signposting to support available, and updates on council programmes.
- Appoint a dedicated neighbourhood coordinator: in response to the challenge of widespread deprivation, participants proposed a figure within the local authority dedicated to deploying financial support initiatives. Among the initiatives, participants suggested convening community investment or local purchase schemes (for instance for home adaptation), education programmes for sustainable cost-saving, and community-based rewards schemes (e.g., for recycling bottles or clothes, or shopping locally).
- Introduce a sustainable energy rewards scheme: another proposed response to the challenge of deprivation was a rewards scheme to incentivise emissions reductions in businesses and individuals. For instance, small businesses would receive council tax discounts for sustainable initiatives, and market and sharing spaces would be provided for local sustainable businesses. Individuals would be incentivised through small economic rewards for recycling, reducing energy usage, recycling clothes, shopping locally and choosing low carbon products.

Other outcomes:

- Focus on community cohesion: participants highlighted the importance of community cohesion in their shared principles for the just transition in Newcastle. Not only this, but they saw community cohesion as a key asset, and the lack of it as a key challenge for certain neighbourhoods. This was reflected in the sense of community within the room. In the closing round, several participants reflected that their key takeaway from the workshop was meeting with others and having the space to hear different perspectives.
- Community voices led to community-based solutions: The composition of participants in the room (highly skewed towards local community voices) was reflected in the proposed policy asks, which were community-focused, and community-based. There was always a role for local government in the proposed solutions, but they were seen more as providers of resources to facilitate community-led participation.





Cross-cutting findings

A comparative analysis was undertaken to identify crosscutting insights and what they might mean for policy at a local and national level. The following section presents an overview of the key findings, followed by policy implications.

Finding 1: Capacity and progress affect local authorities' abilities to engage in participatory policymaking.

Six local authorities were engaged for an initial conversation about taking part in this project, out of which two local authorities agreed to participate. In this process, we learned valuable lessons about conditions in which local authorities are operating, and what this means for their participation in such work.

- Several of the local authorities that were engaged were constrained by limited resources or capacity to take on additional work. Capacity was impacted by devolution deals, lack of funding and resource across the local authority, and low resource dedicated to net zero. This reveals the relative fragility of net zero initiatives in a local government environment where they are not robustly resourced. The LGA is calling for longer-term national funding to build local government capacity to deliver local low-carbon infrastructure, including through hiring new people or upskilling existing staff (WPI Economics, 2021).
- Capacity concerns further limit the ability of local authorities to lead or take part in public
 engagement around the transition to net zero. This mirrors the findings of the Institute for
 Government, who have identified barriers to embedding public engagement in policymaking
 (Norris and Ilott, 2015), including a perception of participatory policymaking as a burden with
 little benefit, and a lack of resources to carry it out.
- In local authorities who were very far ahead in their net zero journey, we observed reluctance
 to conduct a policy co-creation process, which might send conflicting messages.
 Additionally, where a net zero strategy or programmes were already underway, there were
 valid concerns about the ability of local authorities to enact policy suggestions by residents.
 Often, local authorities had already undertaken public engagement at the beginning of their
 net zero journey. However, an opportunity remains to explore what ongoing engagement of
 local residents and organisations in net zero strategies might look like.
- On the other hand, local authorities who were very early in the journey toward net zero
 expressed concerns that engaging the public might increase scrutiny. This echoes the
 findings of the Institute for Government, which found that departments might worry about
 public engagement exposing gaps in strategies (Norris and Ilott, 2015).

These findings point towards barriers that local authorities might face in engaging the public on the transition to net zero. There are clear opportunities for national government to provide support, both financially and in terms of capacity and resource, to enable local authorities to confidently engage their local communities.

Finding 2: It can be challenging to convince stakeholders of their role in policy processes.





We were interested in bringing together stakeholders who could reflect on the breadth and interconnectedness across different areas of life that would be affected by transition, to develop person-centred, place-sensitive policies for a fair transition. With support during workshops to build knowledge and confidently engage in discussions, we hoped recruiting a diverse pool of residents would enable us to draw on their tacit knowledge to consider changes in the transition to net zero. In recruiting representatives from community organisations and the local council, we sought to recruit those working across a range of departments or issues, given there is often a tendency to work in siloed ways.

- Across case study locations, this had differing levels of success. While the transition to net zero has featured in political discussions for some time now, its framing as largely a technical or technological policy area has resulted in a lack of knowledge and awareness in households and communities, as well as in areas of policy that have previously been deemed less relevant (such as arts and culture, or health) (Chilvers, et al., 2017). In some cases, lessons we have already learnt about why people do or don't engage were reemphasised. In other cases, we learnt new lessons about appetite for engaging in this type of processes.
- While it was made clear through recruitment materials that no prior knowledge or experience is required, and although language was accessible and incentives and adjustments were offered to make participation easier, it was challenging to recruit local residents to take part in a policy-focused workshop. This contrasts with research-orientated workshops, where there was a clearer opportunity for participants to learn about net zero amongst peers, rather than alongside policymakers or organisations. Where we recruited participants we had previously worked with in our research on the impact of net zero on families and communities, there was higher uptake.
- In recruiting community organisations from different issue areas, it was sometimes
 challenging to convince community organisations of the link between their work and the
 transition to net zero. However, where community organisations saw this as an opportunity
 to learn more about the transition to net zero, they were more encouraged to participate.
 This may reflect the lack of understanding of what areas of life will be impacted by net zero,
 as discussed above (Institute for Community Studies and Ipsos, 2021).
- Local policymakers were recruited through contacts within the local council. Unsurprisingly,
 those who were recruited to take part in the workshops closely mirrored both where the local
 council were in their net zero policy journey, and how the local council were understanding
 and framing the challenge. Where local councils had made very little progress in the
 transition to net zero, it was more challenging to recruit policymakers in larger numbers or
 from different teams across the council.

Finding 3: There are different understandings of what fairness and justice in the transition means, across stakeholder groups.

We wanted to build a common understanding of key concepts and ideas to ensure clarity when working between communities and local government, and to test alignment between the terminology of the workshop and regional or central government terminology. We also wanted to test whether key concepts and ideas evoked different connotations across places. The biggest variation in understanding was of fairness and justice, in the context of the transition to net zero.





This is unsurprising given it is not a mainstreamed discussion in the UK. Fairness and justice were understood in several ways:

- We observed that in workshops with a larger proportion of community organisations participating, there was a stronger focus on social justice, inequalities, and community cohesion within the transition to net zero. Verfuerth et al. similarly found strengthening social cohesion within the transition to net zero is highly valued by community initiatives (2023). Participants in Luton and Hartlepool highlighted the need to protect those already facing social and economic disadvantage from disruption and harm that might come from the transition. Furthermore, participants in Hartlepool identified ways of tackling existing challenges, such as deprivation and child deprivation, through net zero policies. The joint pursuit of fairness and decarbonisation was a strong driver for action for these groups, and their proposed policy asks mirrored this. Participants identified examples and collaboratively created policy asks that paired the reduction of emissions with improved quality of life and strengthened relationships between the council and the local community. This points to an opportunity to design climate policies that address social concerns beyond climate change.
- At the same time, some participants in Hartlepool and Newcastle found it challenging to
 envision a scenario where the transition could lead to improved conditions for households
 and communities at risk of being left behind particularly those experiencing deprivation.
 This perception was centred around the trade-offs that net zero policies might require. This
 led to discussions between participants, who had disagreements as to whether net zero
 policies will make people 'worse off' or 'better off', with most agreeing with the former. This
 points to an opportunity to reframe the transition to net zero, identifying and communicating
 co-benefits and providing support for potential trade-offs. Verfuerth et al. similarly suggest a
 need to design policies and interventions that maximise and communicate co-benefits
 (2023).
- In Newcastle, where local council representatives did not participate, as well as Hartlepool, where less net zero progress has been made, there was a greater focus on procedural justice. There was interest in clarifying the role that businesses and local authorities and anchor institutions would be held accountable to. Explicit links were made between different levels of governance, with recognition from residents that local government required support from central government if they were to exercise leadership.
- In the case study locations involving fewer or no residents, a few participants struggled to
 empathise with the idea that the transition to net zero would have unequal impacts on
 different people, despite this being broadly acknowledged (OECD, 2023). Particularly when
 reflecting on the pen portraits provided as prompt material, participants were judgemental of
 the decisions individuals had made that led them to these life circumstances. This points to
 the importance of communicating that even with successful policies, the impacts of the
 transition to net zero will not be distributed equally (OECD, 2023).
- Participants identified those groups or identities that shared commonalities with their own
 experience as groups at greater risk of exclusion in the transition to net zero. For example,
 community organisations drew attention to the groups they worked directly with, including
 those facing economic disadvantage, homeless people or those battling substance abuse.
 Similarly, local residents raised personal experiences, such as households with highly
 dependent children, or households with high debt. This points to the value of having a
 diverse range of experiences and backgrounds participating in the policymaking process.





6. Finding 4: While there are common opportunities and challenges in different places, the need for place-sensitive working remains.

We asked participants to think about opportunities and challenges in their place generally, and then to reflect on those that might be more relevant in the transition to net zero. Our recent research found a wide range of conditions that can ultimately leave people with more or less resource, agency, and skills to participate. Many of these were reflected in these place-sensitive discussions. While some conditions were raised consistently across places (shared below), whether those conditions were an opportunity or a challenge varied, strengthening the argument for place-sensitive policy:

- Financial precarity, deprivation and low disposable income were raised as the most significant challenge in all places. In Newcastle, where participants had a higher baseline knowledge of what changes in the transition look like, this was discussed in the context of the real costs of tangible change in transition, and challenges to investing in change. In Luton and Hartlepool, financial precarity was discussed in broader terms of households having to prioritise survival and basic needs today before they could begin to think about changes for net zero transition.
- Political disenfranchisement and low trust in government were raised across all three case study locations. Participants discussed how there was a need for greater transparency around how and why local, regional, and central government access and distribute funds for people to be motivated to play a role and participate. In Luton, local residents and community organisations discussed being distrustful of information that the local council shared or finding it hard to navigate. Participants in Hartlepool and Newcastle both identified a breakdown communication between government and communities as a priority challenge. Participants from the council in Hartlepool shared how difficult they found it to engage communities and understand their needs, while residents in Newcastle shared perceived barriers to speaking with their local representatives, and a desire for more open channels.
- Only one case study location Newcastle discussed governance. There, participants described challenges related to the different levels of governance that are responsible for supporting a transition to net zero and how they felt 'forgotten' by central government. They shared the perception that Newcastle was not 'present' enough in national conversations, and perceived other northern cities, such as Leeds or Manchester, as more of a focus. Participants feared that this might lead to underrepresentation of their needs and challenges in central policymaking. They put forth an idea for a regional body to represent the interests of cities and towns in the Northeast. This perception demonstrates a lack of awareness of the North East Devolution Deal, agreed in 2022, which will bring together Newcastle with other local authorities in the region under a strategic economic plan and 30-year investment fund (DLUHC, 2022).
- In all case study locations, but particularly Hartlepool and Luton, participants drew strongly
 on intangible assets and social infrastructure for their proposed policy asks. This included
 pride in place, active communities, community cohesion and the local voluntary sector.
 Participants reflected on how these assets supported households and communities through
 the Covid-19 pandemic another, albeit very different moment of change and uncertainty.
 They saw an opportunity to capitalise on these assets to support residents in the transition





to net zero. The third sector and the community sector were highlighted as playing a crucial role in helping households and communities to navigate change and were identified as more trusted sources of information. In Luton, participants highlighted the need to be mindful that this sector is already very overstretched.

- Several conditions were commonly shared as challenges in at least two case study locations, in all cases reflecting findings from our recent research. Participants across the three case study locations discussed the lack of local job opportunities, despite having quite different economic profiles. They discussed how this impacts the ability of residents to work locally and to have choice over the sectors people engage with through employment. This perception is faithful to the employment challenges reported by the council in all three places. Despite hosting a large employer (London Luton Airport), Luton has an unemployment rate of 8.5%, and an average annual salary almost £2,000 below the national average (Luton Borough Council, 2023). Hartlepool has an unemployment rate of 9%, the highest in England (Hartlepool Borough Council, 2018). Newcastle has a jobseeker rate of only 5.5%, however the 'hidden' unemployment rate is as high as 18%, with the difference lying in those who are inactive but not looking for jobs (Centre for Cities, 2023).
- The built environment and hard infrastructure were seen as a both an opportunity and a challenge in the transition to net zero across and even within all three case study locations. In Luton and Hartlepool, participants saw potential in cultural assets and buildings for bringing people together, and as an opportunity to demonstrate the benefits of changes such as retrofit. Participants identified heritage buildings as potential spaces for meeting or learning about net zero, and as exemplary places to demonstrate decarbonisation strategies. At the same time, participants questioned the scale of investment in the preservation of assets, when local government is faced with many other pressing issues. Participants in Luton raised the lack of free and accessible spaces for communities, which cultural assets could be used for.

Finding 5: There is demand for using net zero to address broader local challenges.

While participants were able to identify transition-specific opportunities and challenges given local conditions, there was a strong interest in exploring much broader local challenges through the transition to net zero. For instance, participants across two locations chose to focus on deprivation as a priority issue in transition. This points to an opportunity to link public engagement on net zero with engagement on existing inequalities.

Furthermore, participants proposed policy asks that had wider potential benefits beyond the reduction of carbon emissions. For instance, participants proposed a food autonomy programme as a way to not only reduce the carbon footprint of households, but to potentially improve eating habits and reduce costs, which could lead to improved quality of life. Again, this implies that participants see alignment between achieving decarbonisation and wider benefits to individuals and communities. This is regardless of conversations during workshops where participants questioned whether the transition to net zero would make people 'worse off'. This seems to imply that although there is potential for policies to be beneficial in ways beyond decarbonisation, there is still a worry that policies will be designed in such a way that negatively affects individuals.

In most cases, alignment between wider aims and decarbonisation happened in the following ways:





- Participants identified ways of addressing existing inequalities through net zero policies. For
 instance, participants in Newcastle and Hartlepool chose to focus on depravation as a
 priority challenge and thought the transition to net zero could be a tool to address it.
- Participants identified opportunities for policy asks to serve a purpose beyond
 decarbonisation, establishing new services, relationships or infrastructure that could adapt
 to serve other functions. For instance, participants in Newcastle proposed a 'community
 surgery' service that would provide information and support for decarbonisation, but also
 tackle other issues of importance to local residence. Participants in Luton proposed an
 engagement structure to integrate resident voice in local net zero strategy, but also as a
 mechanism to support better communication between the council and local communities.
- Participants saw the opportunity for decarbonisation policies to improve the quality of life of local people, for instance by supporting community life. In Newcastle, participants came up with two policy asks that were aimed at decarbonisation as well as improved community cohesion, which they saw as a key priority to improve lives.

This finding was likely influenced by the design of the workshops, which encouraged participants to think about transition through a person-centred, place-sensitive lens and draw on what they knew about the conditions within their place. Participants were encouraged to identify the relationship between local conditions, opportunities, and challenges in the transition to net zero, which likely influenced the resulting policy asks. However, this finding still points to the opportunity to use net zero policies to address existing inequalities, and/or set up resources and infrastructure that can address several concurrent needs.





Policy recommendations

Based on this pilot programme of research, a series of recommendations emerge that can inform policymakers at different levels. They are especially relevant to those wishing to undertake participatory processes or increase participation in the transition to net zero. However, they remain relevant to all policymakers tackling the challenge of decarbonisation, as we consider participation a requisite of a fair transition.

1. Use a person-centred, place-sensitive approach to reducing carbon emissions towards net zero.

Using a person-centred, place-sensitive approach to lowering carbon emissions has the potential to drive a more just transition at a local level, which balances fairness and decarbonisation. It also presents the potential to shift away from siloed working towards a holistic approach to net zero transition, relevant to both national and local policymakers.

2. Establish a common language and shared understanding around the 'just transition'.

Our fieldwork, especially the recruitment process, highlighted a lack of shared terminology and language around a fair transition to net zero. There was limited understanding amongst participants of what net zero or the transition to net zero means, and of what fairness looks like in this context. This was the case even within some local authorities, who were not always familiar with the concept of a just transition. Tying the concept of fairness to particular processes or outcomes is challenging. However, common terminology and a shared approach to justice issues in transition are necessary to enable collaboration and clear communication.

Our fieldwork highlights the work needed to build a higher baseline level of knowledge of the transition to net zero. Without this understanding, people are excluded from participating in conversations about how transition should happen. Participants in the fieldwork shared a desire to see clear messaging from local and national government on what transition to net zero means and how it affects them. This basic information underpins agency to participate in the transition in a range of ways, from day-to-day changes to participatory policy processes. This is relevant not only to the general public, but also to voluntary and community organisations, businesses, and people working in local government, to ensure everyone is able to participate in shaping the transition to net zero.

Furthermore, our fieldwork highlighted the opportunity to communicate more clearly the likely trade-offs and potential for inequality in net zero policies, as well as the potential benefits. Participants were aware, to an extent, of the potential for the transition to net zero to make them 'worse off'. This may create reluctance to participate in the transition, and leaves ambiguity around how changes are likely to affect people. There is an opportunity for local government to be a source of trusted information on how changes will affect people, with a balanced narrative on the likely trade-offs as well as benefits that individuals may derive.

3. Prioritise carbon reduction policies that have a positive impact on other local challenges.

There is an opportunity to couple initiatives to lower carbon emissions with other locally relevant challenges to increase engagement, and to tackle other existing challenges. There is a range of potential policy areas where lowering carbon emissions is aligned with tackling other challenges.





For instance, participants in Hartlepool proposed a food growing programme which would both reduce emissions and alleviate poverty by reducing household food costs. Although not all policies will be aligned to other challenge areas, the opportunity remains to communicate the co-benefits arising from any policies. For instance, highlighting the health benefits of increased active travel or reduced meat consumption rather than focusing solely on environmental benefits.

4. Target common leverage points across levels of governance as starting points for net zero policies.

This research has pointed to two common leverage points across levels of government - financial deprivation and low trust - but many others exist. There are opportunities to join up strategies between multiple levels of government to tackle these common leverage points. There is potential to transform these leverage points into levers for the reduction of carbon emissions, and as starting points for joint strategies and delivery. For instance, rollout of home adaptation can serve as a cost reduction measure for households, targeting deprivation and cold homes. There is an opportunity to deliver these initiatives collaboratively across levels of governance to reduce the burden on single authorities.

5. Consider the role of 'soft' infrastructure and intangible assets in supporting the delivery of a just transition.

Participants in the fieldwork drew on the intangible assets and infrastructure of their community to propose policy asks and ways of implementing them. They identified assets such as community cohesion, partnerships, and pride in place, which they considered invaluable, as well as 'soft' infrastructure, such as communication channels between organisations and residents, residents' groups, and supportive social relations. These assets and infrastructure were considered key to unlocking policy solutions. For instance, participants wanted to leverage existing communications channels between the community sector and local people to transmit information about the transition to net zero and engage communities in decisions. Even in cases where places lacked social infrastructure, such as affordable meeting spaces, 'soft' infrastructure such as WhatsApp and Facebook groups were maintained and highly valued. This points towards a need to look beyond policy engagement on hard infrastructure or technological changes to also consider the role and requirements for social and soft infrastructure.





Bibliography

Aldridge, J. (2016). Participatory Research: Working with Vulnerable Groups in Research and Practice. Policy Press.

Anantharaman, M., Huddart Kennedy, E., Middlemiss, L., & Bradbury, S. (2019). Who participates in community-based sustainable consumption projects and why does it matter? A constructively critical approach. In C. Isenhour, M. Martiskainen, & L. Middlemiss (Eds.), *Power and Politics in Sustainable Consumption Research and Practice* (pp. 178–200). Routledge.

Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. *Journal of the American Institute of Planners*, 35(4), 216–224.

BEIS. (2021). Net Zero Strategy: Build Back Greener.

https://www.webarchive.org.uk/access/resolve/20211031101659/https://assets.publishing.servic e.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1028157/net-zero-strategy.pdf

Blomkamp, E. (2018). The Promise of Co-Design for Public Policy. *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 77(4), 729–743. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8500.12310

Booth, J. (2019). Empowering Disadvantaged Communities in the UK: Missing the Potential of Coproduction. *Social Change*, 49(2), 276–292. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049085719832401

Building Communities Trust. (2023). *Mapping Community Assets in Wales*. BCT. https://www.bct.wales/mapping-community-assets-in-wales

Carrascal-Incera, A., McCann, P., Ortega-Argilés, R., & Rodríguez-Pose, A. (2020). UK INTERREGIONAL INEQUALITY IN A HISTORICAL AND INTERNATIONAL COMPARATIVE CONTEXT. *National Institute Economic Review*, 253, R4–R17. Cambridge Core. https://doi.org/10.1017/nie.2020.26

Centre for Cities. (2023). Unemployment three times higher than figures suggest as economic inactivity deepens regional divides. Centre for Cities.

https://www.centreforcities.org/press/unemployment-three-times-higher-than-figures-suggest-as-economic-inactivity-deepens-regional-divides/

Chambers, R. (1996). Participatory rural appraisal and the reversal of power. *Cambridge Anthropology*, *19*(1), 5–23. JSTOR.

CIVICUS, & Rietbergen-McCracken, J. (2020, August 26). *Participatory Policy Making*. The Commons: Social Change Library. https://commonslibrary.org/participatory-policy-making/





Climate Assembly UK. (2020). *The path to net zero*. Climate Assembly UK. https://www.climateassembly.uk/report/www.climateassembly.uk/report/

Climate Change Committee. (2020). *The Sixth Carbon Budget: The UK's path to Net Zero*. https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/The-Sixth-Carbon-Budget-The-UKs-path-to-Net-Zero.pdf

Climate Citizens. (2023, October 23). *Bringing Climate Policy to the People*. Climate Citizens. https://climatecitizens.org.uk/

De Smedt, P., & Borch, K. (2022). Participatory policy design in system innovation. *Policy Design and Practice*, *5*(1), 51–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/25741292.2021.1887592

Demski, C. (2021). *Net zero public engagement and participation: A research note*. Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/604f7d6cd3bf7f1d1a836ac9/net-zero-public-engagement-participation-research-note.pdf

Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities. (n.d.). *North East devolution deal*. GOV.UK. Retrieved 18 December 2023, from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/north-east-devolution-deal--2

DLUHC. (2022). *Levelling Up the United Kingdom*. Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1052706/Levelling_Up_WP_HRES.pdf

Emmel, N. (2017). Empowerment in the relational longitudinal space of vulnerability. *Social Policy and Politics*, 16(2), 457–467.

Hartlepool Borough Council. (2018). Employment.

https://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/info/20015/social_care_and_health/912/working_well_-_community/1#:~:text=Hartlepool's%20unemployment%20rate%20had%20seen,same%20rate%20a s%20in%202016.

Institute for Community Studies. (2020). Safety in Numbers? A research agenda with communities, for communities.

https://icstudies.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/files/RESEARCH%20AGENDA%20V6g.pdf

Institute for Community Studies. (2021). 'Why don't they ask us?': The role of communities in levelling up. https://icstudies.org.uk/repository/why-dont-they-ask-us-role-communities-levelling

Institute for Community Studies, & Ipsos. (2021). *UK Public Perceptions and Readiness for a Just Transition to Net Zero*. https://www.youngfoundation.org/our-work/publications/uk-public-perceptions-and-readiness-for-a-just-transition-to-net-zero/





Lambeth Council. (2021). *Lambeth's Climate Action Plan*. https://moderngov.lambeth.gov.uk/documents/s135742/Lambeths%20Climate%20Action%20Plan.pdf

Levitas, R., Pantazis, C., Fahmy, E., Gordon, D., Lloyd-Reichling, E., & Patsios, D. (2007). *The multi-dimensional analysis of social exclusion*.

Lister, R. (2007). Inclusive Citizenship: Realizing the Potential. *Citizenship Studies*, 11(1), 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/13621020601099856

Luton Borough Council. (2023, June). *This is Luton infographic summary*. https://m.luton.gov.uk/Page/Show/Community_and_living/Luton%20observatory%20census%20sta tistics%20and%20mapping/Pages/This-is-Luton-infographic.aspx

McCann, P. (2016). The UK Regional-National Economic Problem: Geography, globalisation and governance. Routledge.

Mubita, A., Libati, M., & Mulonda, M. (2017). The Importance and Limitations of Participation in Development Projects and Programmes. *European Scientific Journal*, 13. https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2017.v13n5p238

Murphy, L., Samanani, F., Button, M., Emden, J., Stone, L., & Mackintosh, D. (2021). *London: A just transition city* (p. 32). Intstitute for Public Policy Research.

Norris, E., & Ilott, O. (2015). *Smarter engagement: Harnessing public voice in policy challenges*. Institute for Government. https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publication/report/smarter-engagement

OECD. (2020). Innovative Citizen Participation and New Democratic Institutions. https://doi.org/10.1787/339306da-en

OECD. (2023). Net Zero+. https://doi.org/10.1787/da477dda-en

Overman, H., & Xu, X. (2022). Spatial disparities across labour markets. Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Putnam, T., & Brown, D. (2021). Grassroots retrofit: Community governance and residential energy transitions in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 78, 102102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2021.102102

Rodriguez, F. S., & Komendantova, N. (2022). *Approaches to Participatory Policymaking Processes: Technical Report*. UNIDO.

Sasse, T., Allan, S., & Rutter, J. (2021). *Public engagement and net zero: How government should involve citizens in climate policy making*. Institute for Government. https://involve.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/docuemnt/Public%20engagement%20and%20net%20zero_0.pdf





Scott, E. (2023). Local government and local democracy in England. https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/local-government-and-local-democracy-in-england/

Stroud District Council. (2023). *Community Engagement Board*. https://www.stroud.gov.uk/environment/building-a-sustainable-future-together/supporting-you/community-engagement-board

Sunak, R. (2023, September 23). *PM speech on Net Zero*. Prime Ministers Office, 10 Downing Street. https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/pm-speech-on-net-zero-20-september-2023

Taylor Aiken, G., Middlemiss, L., Sallu, S., & Hauxwell-Baldwin, R. (2017). Researching Climate Change and Community in Neoliberal Contexts: An emerging critical approach. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 8(4), e463.

The Young Foundation. (2019). Flipping the Coin: The two sides of Community Wealth in England. https://i3w7d2w8.stackpathcdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Flipping-the-Coin-Report-2019.pdf

Theminimulle, S., Carregha, T., & Morrison, E. (2023, October 12). Our journey to net zero: Understanding household and community participation in the UK's transition to a greener future. *The Young Foundation*. https://www.youngfoundation.org/our-work/publications/our-journey-to-net-zero/

Traverse. (2021). Lambeth's Citizens' Assembly on Climate Change: Final recommendations. Lambeth Council. https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-08/Lambeth%20CA_Recommendations_Report.pdf

UNFCCC. (2020). Just Transition of the Workforce, and the Creation of Decent Work and Quality Jobs.

Verfuerth, C., Demski, C., Capstick, S., Whitmarsh, L., & Poortinga, W. (2023). A people-centred approach is needed to meet net zero goals. *Journal of the British Academy*, 11(4), 97–124. https://doi.org/10.5871/jba/011s4.097

Webb, J., Qureshi, A., Frost, S., & Massey-Chase, B. (2022). *Net zero places: A community-powered response to the climate crisis* (p. 18). IPPR North.

Wesselink, A., Paavola, J., Fritsch, O., & Renn, O. (2011). Rationales for Public Participation in Environmental Policy and Governance: Practitioners' Perspectives. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 43(11), 2688–2704. https://doi.org/10.1068/a44161

WPI Economics. (2021). *Delivering local net zero*. Local Government Association. https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/delivering-local-net-zero





Appendix 1

This appendix presents an in-depth description of the activities that made up the workshop methodology, presented in three tranches according to their aims.

Building a common understanding

A key requirement for ensuring participants were able to participate freely and equally in the workshop was to provide a baseline level of knowledge and develop a common understanding of the transition to net zero. We designed several activities within the workshop to support this kind of knowledge building. Each knowledge building activity was designed to build on the last, to facilitate gradual and accessible building of knowledge. Activities were carried out in a variety of configurations, from pair work to small group work to whole group discussions.

Activity	Aim	Description
Introducing definitions	understanding of net zero and the just transition	Facilitators begin by asking participants how much they know about net zero and asking them to share their understanding. Facilitators then introduce an accessible definition of net zero and the just transition. Any questions about net zero should be addressed, and where not possible (e.g., with highly technical questions) they should be recorded and answered after the workshop.
Discussing local plans for net zero (where possible)	workshop and the definition of net zero in	Facilitators introduce published local plans for net zero, referencing specific changes that may happen in the area. Participants are invited to ask questions, which may be answered by the facilitator and or members of the local council present.
Pen portraits	understanding of the transition to net zero through a person- centred approach	Participants are split into small groups and provided with pen portraits describing a person's capacity to participate in the transition to net zero. The pen portraits should be fictional but draw directly on the conditions and foreseen changes in the places. Groups are asked to reflect on 'what would be different about this person's life if the transition to net zero was inclusive and equitable?'
Principles for a just transition to net zero	of principles that should underpin the transition to net zero locally	Participants respond to a series of prompts about how the transition to net zero should feel, who/what should be protected in the transition, who should be involved and what outcomes it should lead to. A group discussion is held, with the aim of arriving at a shared set of principles that can be references throughout the next stages of the workshop.

Identifying local challenges and opportunities

The person-centred, place-sensitive approach calls for an understanding of the different household, community and place conditions that affect what skills, agency, resources, and opportunities have to participate in the transition to net zero. Over the course of the workshop, participants were





guided through several activities to build a picture of the different place-sensitive assets, resources, and conditions over the course of the workshop, to identify those that might translate to tangible opportunities and challenges in the transition to net zero.

To finish, participants were asked to vote on what challenges they would most like to take forward into the policy co-production process. Ideally, these challenges would be specific to the transition to net zero. However, in some case study locations due to the diffuse boundary between general challenges and those relevant to the transition, participants voted on a range of issues with differing levels of relevance to the transition. To address this, facilitators spent time between workshops refining the most voted challenges, grouping them when there was duplication and phrasing them to be more referent to net zero. This was brought to the workshop for participants to check intention and meaning had remained the same and voted on again.

Activity	Aim	Description
Identifying local assets and challenges	intangible assets and	Participants are put in small groups and asked to identify assets and challenges in their places. Facilitators support the process by posing prompts, including identifying
ondirenges	to the place	tangible/intangible assets and challenges, and identifying assets and challenges that are relevant to specific places or groups of people.
Identifying and		Participants are asked to add to their mapping from the
prioritising	challenges that are	previous exercise, using a different colour of sticky note/pen
challenges in the		to identify assets and challenges that are particularly relevant
transition to net	transition to net zero, to be	in the transition to net zero locally. Based on the mapping,
zero	taken into the policy co-	participants are invited to vote on the challenges that they
	production stage	think are most important, to be taken into the next exercise.
Developing a deep	Developing a deeper	Participants work in groups to develop a deeper
shared	understanding of the	understanding of the prioritised challenges. Facilitators
understanding of	shortlisted challenges,	support the process by prompting participants to think about
challenges	including root causes,	root causes vs symptoms, aspects of the challenge that are
	symptoms, and relevance	more relevant to the transition to net zero, and particular
	to the transition to net	groups of people or places that may be disproportionately
	zero	affected by this challenge.

Developing policy asks

The final stage of the workshop was to identify policy openings and develop policy asks, reflecting on the opportunities and challenges explored in greater detail in previous activities. After an explanation of what a policy is and the different ways it could look, participants were guided through several activities that helped them to gradually build policy asks, and collectively critique and refine their ideas through group reflection and using the various tools they had used in previous activities, including the person-centred, place-sensitive approach and guiding principles.

Activity	Aim	Description
•	<u> </u>	Participants are put in small groups and asked to
prioritising policy		brainstorm policy ideas based on the previously
asks		developed definition of the prioritised challenge.
		Facilitators guide participants through a process of





		prioritisation that considers feasibility and impact, arriving at a final idea to take forward for each group.
asks	Developing a robust policy ask that considers existing assets and opportunities for delivery	Participants work in groups to develop the details of the prioritised policy ask, including who could deliver it, how, as well as what particular groups of people or places might benefit from it. Facilitators support participants by prompting them to think of how the policy ask might be delivered, and what assets and opportunities might come in handy. Participants share their policy ask with the entire group, which responds by adding to the idea. Facilitators prompt the group to test the policy ask with the principles for the just transition developed in the first stage.
steps	a positive, action orientated note	To finish the workshop participants are invited to share the next steps that they would like to see after the workshop. This may include, but is not limited to, any next steps that they may want to commit to.